1960

State of Utah v. Joseph Ersol Berchtold : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 15th, 1959, one Joseph E. Berchtold and his friend of long standing, Joseph Van Forrest, both of Brigham City, Utah, left Brigham City in the late afternoon for Cache Valley, arriving in Logan at approximately 7 o'clock p.m., (Tr. 412). From Logan they drove around for a while and then drove north in Berchtold's 1959 Chevrolet automobile to Smithfield and then west to Newton where Mr. Forrest had a girl friend by the name of Nora Jean Christensen

(Tr. 413). Mr. Forrest went into her home on arrival and brought her out to the car where she was introduced for the first time to the defendant Berchtold and from there they started east toward Smithfield to pick up a blind date (Tr. 414) for the defendant. As they drove east (Tr. 413) the defendant was driving, the Christensen girl in the center with Mr. Forrest on the right. All were in the front seat. As they went in the direction of Smithfield there is a bridge over the Bear River that must be crossed. It is approximately seven miles east of Newton with the road fairly straight (Tr. 413). As the car proceeded east and was close to the point where the bridge was built across the river (Tr. 414):

. . . Van and Nora Jean was up in the light of the radio looking at his Thiokol badge. They had it in their hand and the light of the radio was the only light in the car other than the dashboard. But they were looking at it and seeing his picture on it, and it was—Nora Jean stated to me that if we didn't hurry that this—I can't remember her name for sure. I think said Rosie or something, would be in bed if we didn't get over there quite fast, and I guess she maybe got kind of bored that we weren't in any hurry. I never felt any hurry in my mind. I was just enjoying the evening and she—

Q. What did you do then at that time?

A. I picked up my speed probably up to forty-five or fifty-five at the most.

Q. And what did you reach at that time by way of change of route or anything?

A. We came to the first corner of the bridge and then down over it to the bridge.

Q. Came down over the bridge?

A. Yeah.

Q. Did you know how fast you were going when you came down over the bridge?

A. No, I don't.

Q. You never looked at the speedometer at that time?

A. No.

Q. What did you do as you came down across the bridge, if you know?

A. Well, as I came down to the bridge, as I hit the bridge I brightened my lights to see which way the road went, out of instinct, and I probably let my foot off the gas out of instinct. As I came to the corner I was a little in doubt as to which way the road went.

Q. Had you been over the road earlier that evening, the same road?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was it dark when you came over it?

A. Yes.

Q. Was it dark when you went back?

A. Yes.

Q. Had you ever been over that road before?

A. No.

Q. Those were the only two times in your life; is that correct?

A. Yes, I've been there since.

Q. And then what happened?

A. As I came to the corner I was a little in doubt, like I say.

Q. A little in doubt about what?

A. Which way the road went, other than if—I figured that we were going back straight east when we came to the corner. I didn't know for sure, and so I kind of had it in my mind that the road went on straight, but when I brightened my lights I could see there was a corner.

Q. Go ahead then.

A. As I got to the corner I could see that the road went left, and as I turned I was in the gravel and I could feel my back end going a little sideways on the back end, and I could hear the gravel hitting the back of the car, as the tire hits it up into the splash pan, I could hear that. And I could, you know, I could feel myself going in a skid and I possibly—

Q. Was it a violent skid?

A. No, it wasn't really too bad then.

Q. Well, was that the first feeling of any give of your car up to that point?

A. Yes.

Q. And you say you heard the gravel at that time?

A. Yes.

Q. Then what took place?

A. Well, I turned the wheels, started trying to fight—well, I wasn't really too worried, but I tried to kind of fight it and I was turning the wheel. And then all of a sudden it seemed like I possibly hit my brakes or something and it seemed like I locked it sideways off the road. I could see my lights turn around, and then all of a sudden they flipped in the air. Then I can't remember anything until after I stopped.

Q. Was there any screaming or yelling or warning?

A. No, there wasn't. Nobody said anything. I think they still were down in the radio lights looking at the badge.

Q. Did you feel like at any time up to the point where you—

MR. CALDERWOOD: I object to the form of the question.

MR. MANN: He's the only one that can state it.

MR. CALDERWOOD: I object to what he feels.

Q. —that your car was under control?

MR. CALDERWOOD: Oh, I object to that.

THE COURT: He may answer that.

A. Would you please repeat it?

Q. Did you feel like your car was entirely under control up to the time that you hit the gravel?

A. Definitely.

Q. Did you feel that you were going at an excessive rate of speed up to the time you hit the gravel?

A. No.

This statement of facts leading up to the accident made at the time of trial should be compared with the written statement given to Officer Bair, defendant's Exhibit No. 26, from a hospital bed the following morning. Basically the only difference was the speed where on the Tr. page 415 line 10, it states:

" . . . I picked up my speed probably up to forty-five of fifty-five at the most."

The driving speed claimed (Tr. 414-7) prior to any acceleration was 40-45. However, (Tr. 422-30) the defendant

was asked about the speed stated in Exhibit No. 26, which is as follows:

“Q. Now one question I wanted to ask you. I note that in here, “It looked straight, but as I came down at approximately sixty-five miles an hour.” Did you know how fast you were coming down to this bridge as a fact? Did you check your speedometer?

A. No.

Q. Why did you put that you came down approximately sixty-five miles an hour?

A. I don't . . . I never did have any idea in speed in my mind. I don't remember any time stating any speed other than approximately. I don't know why I put it approximately sixty-five. Maybe it's just because everybody up there, “You were going fast or something, wasn't you?” or something like that.

Q. Had people been telling you that you must have been speeding?

A. Yes.”

Mr. Bair claimed however (Tr. 51) that the defendant said he was going about 70 over the bridge. The defendant (Tr. 424-7) stated:

“Q. Now, you heard Officer Bair say that you told him that you were driving seventy miles an hour when he first talked to you. Do you remember any conversation with Mr. Bair where you told him you were driving seventy miles an hour?

A. No. I says I don't think I could have possibly been going more than seventy miles an hour. I never stated the speed of seventy miles an hour.

Q. What made you say, “I don't think I could possibly have been going at a speed more than seventy

miles an hour"? Had there been other conversations about speed at that time?

A. Well, he'd asked me how fast I was going, and I says I didn't know, and he says, "Well, you must have"—well, no, he didn't say anything. I got the implication that maybe he was meaning I was going quite fast, and I just said, "Well, I don't think I could have been possibly going more than seventy miles an hour."

It should also be compared with Officer Bair's testimony of what the defendant said immediately after the accident at the scene about speed, the curve and loose gravel (Tr. 52, lines 10-20).

Some beer had been purchased at Brigham City in unopened bottles. After the girl got in the car at Newton a bottle was opened up and handed to the defendant (Tr. 425-18) and he stuck it between his legs. When asked by the officer if he would submit to a blood test (Tr. 25) he readily agreed. Officer Bair testified when asked by the District Attorney (Tr. 50-11) that the tests showed the defendant was not intoxicated. No test was introduced by the State so we must conclude it had no evidentiary value.

The bridge and the road, before and after, must be described. The road leading east from Newton is a standard width, oiled surface country road, approximately 22 to 23 feet wide and fairly straight until you come to the vicinity of the bridge. Defendant's Exhibit No. 29 shows this road as you approach the bridge going east. The bridge is lower in elevation and on a straight line with the road from the west. Plaintiff's Exhibits No. 4 and 6 further illustrate the character of the

road and bridge as you get nearer to it and the left turn on the other side can be plainly seen because it is daytime, but would present a different problem at night. Plaintiff's Exhibits No. 7 and 8 show the road, as you come out on the east side of the bridge and you can then see that there is a hard surfaced road that swings to the right as well as one that swings to the left with loose gravel up in the "Y" that is created by the two roads forking away from the one road on the east side of the bridge. Pictures of this loose gravel were avoided by the State when they took their pictures some week or so after the accident, but Mr. Berchtold Sr. (Tr. 351-2) went to the scene of the accident on the morning of April 17th, 1959, with a number of people with cameras and pictures were taken. He had been in Washington, D.C. on an assignment with the Air Force and did not arrive home until late on the evening of the 16th day of April, 1959 (Tr. 355). He searched for marks upon the highway (Tr. 355) and found some marks that are shown in defendant's Exhibit No. 24 (Tr. 356) and there were other sets to the left of them, see defendant's Exhibit No. 25, but none leading off the road to point of accident. Officer Bair said that he and Officer Lee made test skids on April 16th (Tr. 101-28):

"Q. Let me ask you, where did you make these tests?

A. Directly over the marks that were visible on the highway.

Q. Directly over the same marks?

A. Yes, sir."

There are three exhibits of the defendant that show the road as it looked on the morning of April 17th from the east

side looking westerly toward the bridge. One is defendant's Exhibit No. 35, looking in a straight line at the bridge which puts the camera in loose gravel and to the left of the road that goes to Smithfield. Defendant's Exhibit No. 24 which moves the camera to the right, toward the Smithfield road, but still in loose rocks and gravel, and defendant's Exhibit No. 25 which is further east, down the south side of the Smithfield road showing the bridge, the intersection with the road going to the south of the Smithfield road, the gravel and the tire marks of the officer's car. Defendant's Exhibit No. 28 is a picture taken at a little different angle of this same scene. Reversing the camera and looking east from the loose gravel, defendant's Exhibit No. 31, shows three main telephone poles in the background with the one on the left being darker and it is the pole that has been replaced. Defendant's Exhibits No. 30, 32 and 33 are progressive pictures made with the camera being moved east, each successive time, toward the pole that has been replaced.

On the evening in question, the defendant approached the bridge in his car with the other two people beside him. He admitted that he increased his speed just shortly before reaching the bridge upon the suggestion of one of the other passengers (Tr. 52). He does not know the exact speed that he was travelling when he reached the bridge, but felt that everything was under control until he became disturbed on which way the road turned after he started across the bridge (Tr. 52). That he struck some loose gravel at which time he made his turn to the left and found he was in trouble, thought he had straightened it out, but all of a sudden it seemed like he possibly hit his brake and something took hold of it as it

was coming out and in just a moment he was off the road and into the barow pit and the pleasant evening that was being enjoyed several seconds before turned into a tragedy.

At the trial, the State, through Officer Bair, contended that there were certain skid marks upon the highway (Tr. 37-22). That he marked them with a red crayon where they began and ended (Tr. 42-6). He claimed that the two marks were left by the right side wheels of an automobile (Tr. 43-22). He said they were two inches wide almost identical except in length (Tr. 44-3). He said they were eight inches apart (Tr. 44-25). That he returned about noon the following day (Tr. 59-29). That he was alone (Tr. 60-2). That he used a clip board and a 100-foot tape (Tr. 60-16). That he measured both marks (Tr. 62-15). One started twenty inches prior to the other (Tr. 62-32). That the one mark (the right one) had a total length of 57 feet 10 inches before it went off the road (Tr. 62-27). The other mark started 20 inches after and had 77 feet six inches contact with the road before it left the same (Tr. 63-4). He claimed they were eight inches apart (Tr. 63-19). On voir dire (Tr. 66-18) he was asked what leaves the mark or what is the mark composed of that is left on the road and we have:

A. The mark is made of the tire, the heat of the tire against the surface of the road.

Q. And you can get it from slowing the wheel less than free wheeling?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Or you can get it from a side skid?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Or you can get it from clear locking of the wheel?

A. Yes, sir.

Officer Bair said he measured the distance from where the tire marks, or first tire, left the road into the barrow pit to the first impact (Tr. 71-29) and it was 80 feet 10 inches to some small trees. From the trees to a telephone pole further east (Tr. 72) it was 53 feet even and from there to where the car came to rest further east it was 69 feet. The width of the road varied from 22 feet 6 inches to 23 feet and was 22 feet 10 inches where the car left the road (Tr. 74). His measurements from the bridge, east, are given (Tr. 76). Straight across the bridge the road is straight 200 ft., it is 332 ft. to the west edge of the road turning right toward Benson and 639 feet to the east side of this road that turns to Benson and 819 ft. would be the measurement along the right side of the road to the pole that was broken on the second impact. He prepared a map, Exhibit No. 14, of a scale of one inch to ten feet. He indicated the route of travel on this exhibit but said Tr. 79-28):

A. The vehicle as it struck the pole changed its course. It went from a right side bank slide into a left.

Q. The left side of the car then being the forward part going sideways?

A. Yes.

Q. With the left side of the car being ahead?

A. At this point here after impact in this area here, the vehicle changed directions."

This is further emphasized (Tr. 87-7):

A. Yes, but, as I say, the car was going sideways leaving gouges in the gravel as it went off. . . ."

On his Exhibit No. 14 he shows the two purported tire marks and says that from where the marks started they were to the left of the right edge of the oiled surface 4 ft. 6 inches (Tr. 84-14).

Officer Bair said that Officer Lee helped him re-check his measurements the afternoon of the day following the accident (Tr. 89). They then attempted to take some measurements of a cord 55 feet long along the purported mark of 57 ft. 10 inches (Tr. 91-94) and claimed that from the middle ordinate of his cord to the tire mark was 4 inches. No measurements of any purported cord of the 77 foot 6 inch tire mark was made even though they were working with a 100-foot tape and why a 55-foot cord was used no one knows. These two lines, or right side tire marks of the vehicle, which, when analyzed have some very peculiar characteristics become the basis of their evidence. They admit the right mark of the two is the right rear wheel and the left one the front. They admit that there is a distance of 10 feet between the front and rear wheel which would mean that if they both commenced to lay down marks at the same instant there would be a distance of 10 feet instead of 20 inches between the beginning of the two marks. In addition to the measurements that were purported to be taken of the tire marks, Officer Bair had a photographer take a picture of them the night of the accident. They were not offered in by the State but were by the defendant, Exhibits No. 22 and 23, and Officer Bair could not identify any tire marks in them. They admit and testify that the first mark began 4 feet 6 inches to the left of the oiled surface (Tr. 84-14) and ran off the oiled

surface in 57 feet 10 inches which would make a triangle with a base of 4 feet 6 inches if the edge of the oiled surface was a continuous straight line. Also they allege that the other tire was 8 inches further left and ran off the road 77 feet 6 inches up the road which would make a triangle with a base of 5 feet 2 inches if the oiled surface was a continuous straight line. However, and this is very important, the edge of the oiled surface was on a curve (see plaintiff's Exhibit No. 14 and defendant's Exhibit No. 36). To show the true base of a triangle Officers Lee and Bair were requested to plat on a large piece of paper on the floor in front of the jury (Tr. 130 to 154), defendant's Exhibit No. 21 and to do so they were asked to draw a straight line along the south side of the road on Exhibit No. 14 going westerly from a point east from where the wheels of the car left the road. This straight line to represent the south edge of the oiled surface, if the road were straight and not on a curve and from that line they then measured to the north to where they had plotted the first mark of the tire on Exhibit No. 14 and they had 12 feet (Tr. 133-7). This was then plotted on defendant's Exhibit No. 21 and the left tire mark was plotted 8 inches to the left and 20 inches up which established a true base of a right triangle. The distances where each tire left the edge of the road was then platted and lines drawn showing the height of one triangle approximately 22 feet greater than the other, all to a scale of one inch equals one foot. It was then demonstrated the physical impossibility of the right front wheel staying 8 inches parallel to the right rear wheel until the right rear wheel left the road and the right front wheel continuing up the road another 22 feet before leaving especially when the right front wheel

is ahead, due to wheel base of 119 inches or approximately 10 feet (Tr. 153-13). Officer Bair admitted (Tr. 153, lines 19-26) that if the car were travelling on a true circle that the front wheel would have to be on the gravel portion of the road when the rear wheel was laying its mark down at the end of his 55-foot cord. With that admission, all of Dr. Wood's testimony, as will be shown later in the argument, was strictly speculative.

In addition, Officer Bair, on the same day that he was supposed to have taken all of the measurements of the purported tire marks, filed his official report with the State of Utah, defendant's Exhibit No. 27, besides other things he said:

"No solid brake marks visible prior to leaving road surface."

Our pictures shown as Exhibits 24, 25, 28 and 36, taken the 17th show the officers tire marks laid down the 16th, but could not pick up any other except the officer's.

Now, to the pleadings, the information charges: (R. 5)

"That on or about the 15th day of April, 1959, at the County of Cache, State of Utah, the said defendant did then and there wilfully and unlawfully drive and operate a motor vehicle in reckless disregard of the safety of others by which one Nora Jean Christensen received injury and whose death ensued within one year as a proximate result of said injury, contrary to the provisions of the Statute of the State aforesaid, in such cases made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Utah."

To this a demand for a bill of particulars was made (R. 6) and "particularly as to what acts, if any, the defendant is

alleged to have done so as to drive a motor vehicle in a reckless disregard of the safety of others." The bill of particulars, as furnished (R. 9) set out:

"The defendant is alleged to have driven his motor vehicle in excess of seventy miles per hour in the nighttime on a road of such a route, course and condition with respect to width and curvature as existed at and near the time and place of the injury resulting in Nora Jean Christensen's death, and by failing to drive under such conditions and in such a manner as to be able to keep the automobile he was operating under control and upon the traveled portion of the highway."

A motion to quash was filed (R. 10) and argued (Tr. 2, line 5 to page 5, line 20).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO QUASH FOR THE REASON THAT THE INFORMATION AS MODIFIED BY THE BILL OF PARTICULARS DOES NOT STATE A CRIMINAL CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST THE DEFENDANT.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR DISMISSAL FOR FAILURE TO PROVE A CAUSE OF ACTION OR ERRED IN NOT GRANTING DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED IN-

STRUCTION NO. 1 FOR THE FOLLOWING REASONS TO-WIT:

(a) THAT THE TESTIMONY OF THE OFFICERS WAS CONFLICTING.

(b) THAT PHYSICAL EVIDENCE OF THE OFFICERS PRESENTED AND PARTICULARLY AS TO MEASUREMENTS ALLEGEDLY TAKEN AT THE SCENE OF THE ACCIDENT WERE PHYSICALLY IMPOSSIBLE TO BE AS ALLEGED.

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