1960

State of Utah v. Joseph Ersol Berchtold : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

While appellant's Statement of Facts contains most of the basic essentials of the case, he has gone far afield in the recitation of superfluous material and in arguing the evidence.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO QUASH THE INFORMATION.

POINT II.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS AND IN REFUSING TO GRANT HIS REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 1 FOR ANY OF THE REASONS SET FORTH IN HIS POINT II.

POINT III.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S INSTRUCTION NO. 10 IN ITS ENTIRETY.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO QUASH THE INFORMATION.

Appellant's main argument seems to be that the acts described in the bill of particulars are not such as

constitute “reckless disregard of the safety of others” (41-6-43.10, U. C. A. 1953), and that, therefore, no cause of action is stated in the information as modified by the bill.

He goes to great effort to show error in the court’s denial of his motion to quash, but does so without the aid of any Utah cases.

He proceeds at the outset to misinterpret the plain meaning of the phrase in the bill of particulars, “* * * in excess of 70 miles per hour * * *”, failing to realize that “in excess of” might mean any speed above that figure. It does not mean *just* 70.

He conveniently avoids a line of Utah law most helpful to respondent and offers instead citations from Colorado and California dealing primarily with the question of speed (ranging from 35 to 73 miles per hour). His cases are concerned with whether such speeds constitute “willful misconduct”; and without citing any authority for his statement, (Appellant’s Brief, pg. 22) he seems to indicate that the term “willful misconduct” is an expression interchangeable with “reckless disregard for the safety of others.”

It will be noted by this court, of course, that appellant’s cases are worthy of attention only as they apply to defendant’s own version of the facts; that is, that he was travelling somewhere around 70 miles an hour. They can provide the court no guidance what-

ever, though, in light of the testimony of the State's expert witness, a Ph.D. in physics, that appellant was travelling at least 110 miles per hour and perhaps greatly in excess of that figure, and of other evidence that this occurred on a curved road at night with defendant driving so recklessly as to be wholly unable to keep the car on the road (T. 16-18, 24-26, 292, 304-305). Apparently, this was the evidence believed by the jury, and not defendant's own testimony as to a lesser rate.

Certainly, a holding by the court of a sister state to the effect that driving up to 60, 70, or 73 miles per hour does not constitute "willful misconduct" should not obligate this court to hold that driving in excess of 70 miles per hour (actually, as proven, more than 110 miles an hour), along with the other circumstances present, does not constitute "reckless disregard of the safety of others".

Fortunately, we are not without local precedent as to the meaning of "reckless disregard for the safety of others", the crucial words in the information and the statute out of which it arose. In *State v. Lingman*, 97 Ut. 180, 91 P. 2d 457, an involuntary manslaughter case, defendant was accused of driving approximately 40 miles per hour into an intersection, "which speed was excessive in view of the width, construction and obstructions of the said driver's view along the said highway and the hazard of the intersection * * *",

the bill of particulars further providing that the defendant was driving and operating the automobile carelessly and heedlessly, with willful and wanton disregard for the rights and safety of others, and without due caution and circumspection, and at such a speed and in such a manner as to endanger life. The court at page 468 observed that * * * The very act as charged involves recklessness and a marked disregard for the safety of others. * * *

In *State v. Clark*, 118 Ut. 517, 223 P. 2d 184, the court adopted, as a definition of “criminal negligence” sufficient to bring a driver under the involuntary manslaughter statute, a term very much similar to that used repeatedly in the instant case. There, the court used the phrase: “recklessness or with a marked disregard for the safety of others.” In that case, the court stated at page 189 that the question was one for the jury. It said they might well reason that a person driving 30 to 35 miles per hour on an icy road was “reckless and indifferent of consequences.” The court then stated that there is no hard and fast rule for measuring recklessness. Here, of course, the evidence indicates the probability that Berchtold was driving three times as fast as the defendant drove in the *Clark* case, under somewhat different, but similarly dangerous circumstances.

In *State v. Riddle*, 112 Ut. 356, 188 P. 2d 449, the court held that where a driver on a curve in the

dark, permitted his automobile to go onto the left side of the road, reasonable jurymen “not only might fairly conclude that he was guilty of ‘reckless conduct or conduct evincing a marked disregard for the safety of others’, but could hardly conclude otherwise”. Here defendant completely lost control and allowed his car to go off the side of the road.

This court held in *State v. Read*, 121 Ut. 453, 243 P. 2d 439, that where defendant’s car hit a pedestrian, knocking him 61 feet, on a clear, dry, even, straight street, not curved, as here, and where skid marks extended 141½ feet and where defendant had been doing some drinking, as defendant had here, and there was alcohol in his car, the jury could reasonably find that his conduct constituted criminal negligence of a degree to bring him under the involuntary manslaughter statute, despite his own testimony that he had drunk only one glass and a portion of a bottle of beer, and that he was travelling only 25 miles per hour.

It seems clear then that reasonable minds could hardly otherwise conclude than that driving an automobile in the nighttime on a narrow country road around a curve in excess of 110 miles an hour was an act in reckless disregard of the safety of others.

To hold to the contrary would tend to nullify the negligent homicide statute and open the door to travel at speeds even in excess of those presently con-

templated by the mind of man on any kind of a road under any circumstance of curvature at any time of day or night.

Turning from the substantive law involved to the matter of how far a prosecutor must go in answering a defendant's request, respondent has found that the Utah court in *State v. Lack*, 118 Ut. 128, 221 P. 2d 855, held that a bill of particulars need not plead matters of evidence and that the statute providing for such bill was not intended to compel the prosecution to give the accused a preview of the evidence upon which the state was to rely. Nor was defendant in the instant case handicapped in any way in the preparation of his defense by what the bill contained. (See *State v. Russell*, 106 Ut. 116, 145 P. 2d 1003).

If, indeed, the appellant was unable to make out in his mind a cause of action from the information in the first bill of particulars, he was at perfect liberty to request a supplemental bill, which he failed to do. (See Section 77-21-3, U. C. A. 1953.)

As a matter of substance, then, the information, as modified, did constitute a cause of action and as a matter of procedure, appellant was remiss in failing to exhaust his ready and simple remedies at the time.

POINT II.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S MOTION

TO DISMISS AND IN REFUSING TO GRANT HIS REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 1 FOR ANY OF THE REASONS SET FORTH IN HIS POINT II.

Appellant presents a hodge-podge of assertions under his Point II, the main burden of which is to indicate error on the part of the court in not granting defendant's motion to dismiss or his request for a directed verdict.

Speaking generally as to such motions, our courts have held that it is the sole and exclusive province of the jury to determine the facts in all criminal cases, whether the evidence offered by the state be weak or strong, in conflict or not controverted. Evidence may be ever so convincing as to the guilt or innocence of a party charged, yet it is for the jury and not the trial judge to render the verdict. *State v. Green*, 78 Ut. 580, 6 P. 2d 177 states:

“Wherever there is adduced in a criminal prosecution competent evidence from which a jury can possibly find beyond reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the crime with which he is charged, there will no error in failing to direct a verdict of acquittal.”

As to the three questions of motion to dismiss, motion for directed verdict and motion for a new trial, the court recently spoke in the case of *State v. Penderville*, 2 Ut. 2d 281, 272 P. 2d 195, as follows:

“* * * It has been repeatedly held by this court that upon a motion to dismiss or to direct a verdict of not guilty for lack of evidence that the trial court does not consider the weight of the evidence or credibility of the witnesses, but determines the naked legal proposition of law, whether there is any substantial evidence of the guilt of the accused, and all reasonable inferences are to be taken in favor of the state. * * * As is pointed out in one or more of these cases, the trial court had a discretion in the case of a motion for a new trial that it does not have in case of a motion to dismiss or to direct a verdict of not guilty. Nevertheless, in either case if there is before the court evidence upon which reasonable men might differ as to whether the defendant is or is not guilty, he may deny the motion.”

Again in *State v. Erwin*, 101 Ut. 365, 120 P. 2d 285 the court said:

“* * *, if there is any substantial evidence * * *, then the weight of the evidence is for the jury, and the court will not disturb the verdict.”

In *State v. Lewellyn*, 71 Ut. 331, 266 P. 261, the court stated:

“ ‘ “It is only in the *absence of any evidence* tending to establish the guilt of the accused that the trial court will be authorized to grant a *peremptory* instruction directing his acquittal.” ’ * * *

“The same principle is decided in *State v. Gross*, (Ohio), 110 N. E. 466.

'An able discussion and determination of the bounds of judicial authority in considering a motion for a directed verdict is contained in *Isbell v. U. S.*, 142 C. C. A. 312, 227 F. 788, in which it is made clear that the court in such case does not consider the weight of evidence or credibility of witnesses but determines the naked legal proposition of law whether there is any substantial evidence of the guilt of the accused. This is undoubtedly the correct rule. See annotation "Directing Acquittal", 17 A. L. R. 910. The function of a court in dealing with an application for a directed verdict must not be confused with that in considering a motion for a new trial upon the grounds of insufficiency of evidence. The court has a discretion in the latter case which he does not properly have in the former. The reason for the distinction is that the order sought in one case acquits the accused and finally ends the prosecution, while in the other, the order, if granted, does not discharge the accused but merely gives him the advantage and benefit of another trial. The rule is controlled by the same principles in criminal cases as in civil procedure. And in a civil case, *Stam v. Ogden P. & P.*, 53 Utah 248, 177 P. 218, this court said:

' "It is familiar doctrine in this jurisdiction and perhaps in nearly every other where the jury system prevails, that, if there is any substantial evidence whatever upon which to base a verdict, the court will not withdraw the case from the jury or direct what their verdict should be." " "

Appellant urges nine reasons why his Motion to Dismiss and his requested instruction for a directed

verdict should have been granted by the court. None of the reasons has any substantial merit. Appellant seems merely to be arguing the evidence as he should have done to the jury. Furthermore, he cites no cases whatsoever in support of any of the assumptions under his Point II.

Having now laid out general rules, respondent will address itself to certain specific sub-points raised under Point II of appellant's brief.

(a) *That the testimony of the officers was conflicting.*

The full answer to sub-points (a), (b), and (c) is that the weighing of the evidence is the sole prerogative of the jury.

We will assume (but not admit) for the purpose of answering appellant's sub-point (a) that the testimony of the officers was conflicting. This constitutes no legal basis, however, for a motion to dismiss.

The testimony of the two officers could have been absolutely opposite in every pertinent detail and still the court would not have been justified in dismissing or directing a verdict. The jury was at absolute liberty to believe all the testimony of one of the officers, while disbelieving all that of the other and in relying for its verdict wholly upon the testimony of the one.

On the other hand, the jury was free to believe portions of the testimony of both officers, while dis-

believing portions of that of both, thus arriving at apparent truth upon the basis of which it could render its verdict.

If the testimony was in conflict it was up to the jury to pick out which portions, if any, of that of either officer it could believe. It was not the prerogative of the court either to accept or reject the testimony of the officers or to assume to take the determination as to the merit of such testimony from the jury. If any evidence tending to support the guilt of defendant came before the jury it was up to the court to allow the case to go forward.

(b), *appellant's claim that physical evidence given by the officers, particularly measurements at the scene, was physically an impossibility.* It appears that appellant is setting himself up as sole arbitrator and that he is presuming to perform the functions of the jury. If the allegations could not possibly have been true, the jury would have so determined. It was up to the appellant to argue such evidence to the jury and is not his place, now, to urge this court to pass upon the merits of it.

(c), *the alleged false premise used in the calculations of the State's expert witness.* The truth or falsity of his premise is neither self-evident nor conclusive regardless how it may appear to appellant. Again, this is a fact question and the jury evidently found differently.

(d), *appellant's claim that the testimony of the State's expert witness was speculative and thus caused the jury to speculate on its verdict.* In so urging, appellant merely argues portions of the evidence. The testimony of Dr. Woods was based on certain specific research, the details of which were brought out by appellant's counsel on cross-examination, that being the proper way of handling the matter. He now attempts to use the wrong forum for his argument, having failed in his effort to convince the jury.

As appellant well knows, an expert witness is not limited in the same way as an ordinary witness. He may give his opinions as long as they are based on study, research, or examination, and he may also testify to hypothetical situations. As a consequence, his testimony may tend to include a rather wide range of probabilities. To so testify is not to speculate and the jury was under the same obligation in weighing his statements as it was in weighing those of other witnesses. Dr. Woods' testimony was weighed and not found wanting, and it is too late now for appellant to complain.

(e), *appellant's statement that no direct testimony appears in the record that defendant exceeded the speed of 65 miles an hour.* The reason for this, of course, is that the actual witnesses are dead because of appellant's recklessness. While there is no direct testimony as to anybody reading on the speedometer a speed in excess of that figure, it has long been recog-

nized that an expert, such as Dr. Woods, may testify as to speed based upon research made after the crash. See *State v. Lingman*, 97 Ut. 180, 91 P. 2d 457; *State v. Read*, 121 Ut. 453, 243 P. 2d 439. Certainly, the jury was at liberty to believe Dr. Woods' testimony, instead of the unsupported self-serving statements of the appellant.

This court held in *State v. Shonka*, 3 Ut. 2d 124, 279 P. 2d 711 that the jury was not absolutely bound to believe all the testimony of a defendant and that it need give it only such weight as the facts and circumstances surrounding the occurrence, including the self-interest of the witness, required. It said that self-interest or improbability can be used to discredit or discount the testimony of a witness and substantive direct evidence, though uncontradicted, may be disbelieved by a jury where the witness is a party or otherwise interested.

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